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          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Good

          3  afternoon, everyone.

          4                 I want to call the room to order.  I

          5  am Council Member Hiram Monserrate, Chair of the

          6  Veterans Committee here in the City Council, and we

          7  are going to be beginning shortly.

          8                 I'd like everyone to just take this

          9  opportunity and join me in observing a moment of

         10  silence for all the troops that we have lost

         11  overseas recently.

         12                 (Moment of Silence observed.)

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: God bless our

         14  troops.

         15                 Good afternoon, I'd like to thank

         16  everyone for coming to today's hearing.  Again, my

         17  name is Council Member Hiram Monserrate, Chair of

         18  the Committee of Veterans here at the City Council.

         19                 In today's hearing the Committee will

         20  here testimony regarding the issue of veterans with

         21  Traumatic Brain Injury, TBI, and the services that

         22  are currently available. Hopefully plans to increase

         23  such services will be developing.

         24                 According to the American Academy of

         25  Neurology, TBI is considered the`signature wound' of
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          2  soldiers involved in the conflicts in Iraq and

          3  Afghanistan.  Due to advancements in body armor and

          4  medicine, many more soldiers are surviving the

          5  current conflicts compared to previous wars.

          6  Unfortunately, many more are coming back home with

          7  terrible injuries, including TBI.

          8                 Despite the frequency and severity of

          9  these injuries, there appears to be inadequate

         10  screening and treatment for our soldiers.

         11                 Today we will explore ways in which

         12  we can improve upon such services in order to

         13  provide for the best possible care for those men and

         14  women who put themselves in harms way.

         15                 I would just like to again begin the

         16  hearing by saying that even though we are a city

         17  council committee, we do our best to help raise the

         18  issues and raise awareness, not only to the members

         19  of the city council, but our other colleagues in

         20  government.

         21                 I am glad to say that there are

         22  several of the veterans activists here in the City

         23  of New York that represent various organizations in

         24  the audience.  I am sure of them will be testifying,

         25  but we will be hearing first today from Dr. Mary
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          2  Hibbard.

          3                 So, we're going to ask Dr. Hibbard to

          4  come up. She's from Mount Sinai School of Medicine,

          5  and we look forward to hearing her testimony.  I

          6  heard a little bit about her during an Oprah Winfrey

          7  Show, so I want to say that.

          8                 I am very honored to have you here

          9  today, and this is an important opportunity for my

         10  colleagues and I, and everyone who will be watching

         11  this on TV to hear the City Council's role in

         12  hearing and disseminating this information.  So

         13  please begin.

         14                 MS. HIBBARD:  Okay, good afternoon.

         15  I am delighted to be here, and it's not the Oprah

         16  Winfrey Show.

         17                 I am Mary Hibbard, and I am a

         18  Professor of Rehabilitation in the Department of

         19  Rehab Medicine of Mount Sinai in New York here.

         20                 I am delighted to come and share some

         21  of my concerns about the readiness of our New York

         22  VA system in handling the influx of returning vets

         23  with TBI.

         24                 My expertise is not culled from

         25  working actually in a VA system, so I have a bit of
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          2  an outsider view.  But I do have experience in

          3  working with a very well known ABC cameraman and his

          4  staff who were injured in Iraq over a year ago,

          5  secondary to an IED or an Improvised Explosive

          6  Devise.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  You should

          8  feel free to tell us the name and a little bit about

          9  those experiences also, as it relates to your

         10  testimony.

         11                 MS. HIBBARD:  Okay, the name of the

         12  reporter and the cameraman are well known in the

         13  media.  It's Bob Woodruff and Doug Vogt.  Both are

         14  doing very nicely and recovering quite well from

         15  very intensive front- end interventions that were

         16  provided not in the VA system, but in the private

         17  sector.

         18                 So some of my other points will be

         19  the distress at the scope of services that are

         20  available in contrast to Bob and Doug's experience

         21  with recovery after traumatic brain injury.

         22                 As you're well aware, TBI is the

         23  hallmark injury of the Iraq and Afghanistan war.  No

         24  two brain injuries are alike, therefore, no two

         25  brains heal the same.  The same force applied to the
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          2  brains of different individuals will result in

          3  different injury severity.  The impairments caused

          4  by TBI are heterogeneous, not predictable and

          5  definitely life long.

          6                 This makes TBI unlike other medical

          7  diagnoses the VA has had to handle.  Furthermore,

          8  TBI is a chronic disability, one that needs ongoing

          9  interventions with most that are directed way beyond

         10  the acute care phase of treatment.  Most

         11  individuals, regardless of the cause of their TBI,

         12  require life long services and community supports.

         13                 I will divide my comments into three

         14  main sections; how adequate is the VA responding to

         15  the needs of the moderate to severe injury; how well

         16  they are handling the individuals with mild TBI; and

         17  what's the quality of the services within the VA

         18  system.

         19                 Let's talk about the vets with

         20  moderate to severe TBI.  A small number of veterans,

         21  and I emphasize small given the larger number of

         22  individuals returning with mild TBI, are returning

         23  to the New York City region with moderate to severe

         24  injuries, secondary primarily to blasts, much like

         25  the experience of Bob Woodruff the ABC news
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          2  reporter.  In these situations, the vet may have a

          3  penetrating brain trauma, require emergency care in

          4  the field, be helicoptered via rapid transport for

          5  surgery perhaps in Germany, and then transferred

          6  eventually to Walter Reed or to Bethesda for some

          7  acute care services.

          8                 The front- end interventions are the

          9  strength of our military.  Treatment is effective,

         10  efficient, and truly the "state of the art."

         11  Without these rapid interventions, many veterans

         12  would have become additional casualties of the war.

         13                 At Walter Reed Army Medical Center,

         14  56 percent of those admitted to their Center

         15  actually had moderate to severe injuries, and thus,

         16  each and every one of these people require life long

         17  care.

         18                 At point of transfer to the VA system

         19  these vets either enter a Level One or a Level Two

         20  Polytrauma Hospital, often very far away from their

         21  loved ones, who are the necessary supports for these

         22  individuals.  While care at the Level One Center is

         23  quite specialized, the number of these centers is

         24  far below the number of veterans who are returning

         25  who need these kinds of services.
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          2                 The care at the Level Two Poly-

          3  centers is very far from "state- of- the- art."

          4  Funding for the Level Two Centers is new and

          5  inadequate.  Staff is inexperienced with TBI and TBI

          6  treatment models, and staff shortages of experienced

          7  clinicians out there who know about TBI is extremely

          8  severe.  This situation is clearly the case at the

          9  Bronx VA, our local Vision Level Two Center.

         10                 There is no system of systematic

         11  referral for identified veterans with moderate to

         12  severe injury into even our Level Two Center.

         13  Families of veterans with TBI are opting to send

         14  their loved ones to places that are closer and more

         15  convenient in the VA system.  This results in

         16  several problems; the inpatient rehabilitation beds

         17  at our Regional Level Two Center remain unfilled;

         18  the veterans go to other VA's with absolutely no

         19  expertise in TBI, and the staff at the Level Two

         20  Center never gain expertise needed to run a quality

         21  program. This is a loose/loose situation for all.

         22                 Even when inpatient rehab is

         23  adequate, veterans with moderate to severe injuries

         24  are totally lost once they return to their

         25  communities.  Unlike other medical conditions where
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          2  90 percent of the medical effort and interventions

          3  are at the "front- end" of the illness, 90 percent

          4  of interventions needed after TBI occur at the back-

          5  end long after the acute and inpatient

          6  rehabilitation and all in the community.  These

          7  services include such things as long- term

          8  psychological, behavioral, vocational, substance

          9  abuse, physical and psychiatric interventions for

         10  the life time of the individual.  It is here where

         11  the VA system starts to really fail these vets.

         12                 There are no long- term intervention

         13  programs, no structured day programs, no supported

         14  housing, no long- term counseling that has a

         15  specific TBI emphasis in the community.

         16                 Instead, veterans benefits are

         17  reduced and their services cut assuming that

         18  adequate time, all by itself, has been spent in

         19  rehabilitating the patient.  One needs only look at

         20  the increasing number of veterans with TBI seeking

         21  mental health services, Medicaid Waivers and HUD

         22  housing from the private sector to know that the

         23  VA's are failing the veterans with life- long

         24  disabilities.

         25                 What about the veterans returning
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          2  with mild TBI? The vast majority of our returning

          3  veterans come home with mild TBI.  The term "mild"

          4  is an unfortunate minimization of the devastation

          5  the TBI can play in the lives of the returning

          6  veteran and his family.  Mild TBI, often called

          7   "Hidden TBI," is often undiagnosed or misdiagnosed

          8  in the VA system.  Many veterans present for initial

          9  screening with what appears to be other more

         10  important critical injuries such as amputations, or

         11  even blindness, or they may have other psychiatric

         12  problems such as depression, substance abuse or

         13  PTSD, often co-existing problems with a TBI, that

         14  can easily overshadow the TBI.  These individuals

         15  are likely to have suffered a TBI at some unexpected

         16  motor accident while on duty, or more likely from

         17  shockwaves where they were too close to some IED'S,

         18  improvised explosive devices, that exploded in their

         19  vicinity.  Repeat shockwave exposure has been shown

         20  to cause cumulative damage to the brain.

         21                 As a result, these veterans have

         22   "invisible injuries," they often function fairly

         23  well in the high structure of the military where

         24  there's not much choice, but once home they are

         25  unable to pick up the treads of their former family
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          2  of work roles.  Their previously unnoticed thinking,

          3  emotional and behavioral difficulties become

          4  barriers to successful community reentry; families

          5  report marked and disturbing changes in their

          6  personalities.  Families begin to disintegrate and

          7  joblessness increases, societal failure ensues.

          8                 Our returning vets with mild TBI are

          9  often not identified in the VA system.  While the VA

         10  has begun routine screening for TBI, the screening

         11  tool used is insensitive to identifying these mild

         12  TBI the bigger part of the problem.  As a result,

         13  our veterans seeking services are often denied VA

         14  service for their legitimate war- related injuries.

         15  These individuals are often found in increasing

         16  numbers in the private sector, trying desperately to

         17  find help for their altered functioning without any

         18  clear idea or understanding of what has gone wrong

         19  with their thinking and behavior.  Anger,

         20  frustration and feelings of betrayal by the VA

         21  system ensue.

         22                 The third point I want to focus on is

         23  the adequacy of the services that are being rendered

         24  within the VA at this moment.  The system of care

         25  and clinical expertise needed to deliver effective
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          2  TBI services to veterans currently exists in the

          3  private sector, but not in the VA system.

          4                 This is particularly true in New York

          5  where several medical centers have specialized TBI

          6  programs and research centers focused on solely on

          7  research about traumatic brain injury and its

          8  interventions.  As of now, our returning vets cannot

          9  access these private sector services.

         10                 By nature of the complexities of TBI

         11  and its manifestations, treatment must be provided

         12  by an interdisciplinary team of highly experienced

         13  and specialized TBI clinicians.  Recent start up

         14  programs are notoriously ineffective since the staff

         15  is not adequately trained in how to take standard

         16  rehabilitation, and shift it to the complex demands

         17  of the individual with a brain injury.

         18                 Clearly it takes years, years, to

         19  develop the level of TBI expertise that exists in

         20  the private sector.  Yet the needs of the vets are

         21  now.  We don't have years to wait.

         22                 Replicating already existing TBI

         23  programs of the private sector within the Department

         24  of Veterans Affairs is both time consuming and cost

         25  prohibitive.  Perhaps more importantly, our veterans
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          2  deserve quality interventions that do not yet exist

          3  in the VA system.  Reduced quality of interventions

          4  only result in higher levels of disability and

          5  poorer outcomes for the vets.

          6                 In the past, the Department of

          7  Defense and the Department of Veterans Affairs have

          8  contracted with private sector clinicians rather

          9  than attempt to replicate the many and varied

         10  programs and services that make up the TBI

         11  continuum.  It is argued that this approach needs to

         12  be taken again if our vets in New York City are to

         13  maximally recover from their war- related injuries.

         14                 The influx of TBI survivors returning

         15  home from war emphasizes the need to leverage

         16  existing private sector TBI treatment capacity to

         17  address their needs while building the expertise of

         18  the VA staff through training within these private

         19  sectors.  The public and private sector must come

         20  together with the VA in dialogue to achieve this

         21  timely outcome.

         22                 In closing, I would like to just hit

         23  several points.

         24                 The Bronx VA, which is our local

         25  Vision Level Two Center, is typical of the newly

                                                            15

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2  appointed Level Two Polytrauma Centers.  It is

          3  scrambling to meet the needs of those with TBI

          4  coming to their system.  The VA is inadequately

          5  budgeted for their program, and staff is

          6  inexperienced in running a specialized TBI program.

          7  Long- term intervention programs specifically

          8  addressing the needs of the vets are lacking.

          9  Funding is inadequate to help staff within the VA to

         10  build capacity.  Patients are being funneled into

         11  other than Level Two VA's, and getting even less

         12  service.

         13                 Second point, the VA should be

         14  encouraged to select other established screening

         15  tools which can better identify mild TBI so that

         16  these vets can receive the services they deserve.

         17                 Third, the VA should partner with

         18  consumer advocacy groups, some of which are in the

         19  audience today, to provide a centralized information

         20  resource center.  We don't need a new one, it exists

         21  already, create a partnership with the private

         22  consumer world.  It's important for the families and

         23  the individuals after TBI to understand what's

         24  happened to them, and what's out there for them.

         25                 The Committee is encouraged to lobby
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          2  for revision of the Department of Defense and

          3  Department of Veterans Affairs policies to allow TBI

          4  specialized services to be delivered by eligible

          5  private sector specialized TBI programs.  They are

          6  ready to go, and willing to do.  An accelerated pace

          7  of contract procurement, however, is going to need

          8  to be worked out or it will never happen in time to

          9  help the vets.

         10                 The Committee should encourage a one

         11  year moratorium on medical retirement so that

         12  servicemen can remain on active duty with insurance

         13  coverage allowing for care in the private sector.

         14  If this approach is adopted, military families

         15  should be fully informed of the retirement

         16  moratorium.

         17                 The Committee should also encourage

         18  the enactment and full funding of the Heroes At Home

         19  Act of 2007, which provides for granting of awards

         20  to private sector, community based organizations to

         21  meet employment and emotional adjustment needs of

         22  members of the National Guard.  They also are

         23  experiencing head injuries.

         24                 Finally, the Committee should

         25  encourage an enhanced collaboration between military
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          2  and private sector trauma and TBI research centers

          3  in the New York area to conduct clinical research,

          4  and establish a National Trauma Institute that will

          5  benefit both the military and civilian populations.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I want to

          8  say thank you, Doctor, for your testimony.  It is

          9  very telling, and I want to also add that  --  I

         10  want to thank in particular my staffer Wayne Malky

         11  (phonetic), who actually came up with the concept of

         12  having a hearing on this issue.  Wayne is sitting

         13  here to my left from Elmhurst, Queens, too, and I

         14  have to tell you it's very chilling and unnerving to

         15  hear your testimony today.

         16                 I'm also a veteran of the United

         17  States Marine Corp., and when you hear about

         18  returning vets not getting the services, but to the

         19  explicity (sic) that you have just outlined, and the

         20  need.

         21                 I have a few questions that I have, I

         22  also want to recognize my colleague, Council Member

         23  Tony Avella, also from the borough of Queens, who's

         24  here today.

         25                 I have a few questions in particular,
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          2  I guess without going into too many details, your

          3  testimony outlines serious deficiencies with the

          4  VA's health delivery system with respect to TBI, is

          5  that not correct?

          6                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's correct.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I also want

          8  to state for the record that the VA was invited, and

          9  refused the opportunity to testify here today.  I

         10  guess after hearing your testimony, I understand

         11  why.

         12                 We will be following up with them as

         13  well as our Congressional and Federal counterparts

         14  because I think this is an incredibly important

         15  issue that has not gotten enough attention.

         16                 When Mr. Woodruff suffered his

         17  injury, he suffered it as a result of a car bombing?

         18                 MS. HIBBARD:  He was secondary to an

         19  IED.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  It was a

         21  roadside bombing.

         22                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes, a roadside

         23  bombing.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Which

         25  appears to be very, very frequently used right now
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          2  in the engagement in Iraq against our military

          3  personnel.

          4                 MS. HIBBARD:  It's definitely on the

          5  increase, and it is the primary choice of weaponry.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  From what I

          7  understand, it's also the primary reason for

          8  injuries and casualties right now, the roadside

          9  bombings in Iraq.

         10                 MS. HIBBARD:  The shockwaves of an

         11  IED, whether you're actually getting hit by debris

         12  and shrapnel or not, are the damage to the brain.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Damage to

         14  the brain.

         15                 MS. HIBBARD:  In Mr. Woodruff's case,

         16  he actually had a fractured skull with shrapnel in

         17  his brain.  His colleague has less severe injury,

         18  but both had penetrating head injuries.           For

         19  many of the soldiers coming back with mild TBI,

         20  these are individuals that don't have their brain

         21  penetrated by any flying debris which is the content

         22  of these IED's, but the shockwaves have caused the

         23  problem.

         24                 Unfortunately, with our limited

         25  amount of military, they're going into the field,
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          2  they're going back into the field, they're going

          3  back into the field.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

          5                 MS. HIBBARD:  So they are repeatedly

          6  exposing themselves, not voluntarily, to repeat

          7  shockwave blasts because these IED's are going off

          8  all over the place.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Sometimes

         10  not voluntarily right?  They are being ordered to go

         11  back.

         12                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's exactly right.

         13  That's exactly right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I wish they

         15  were all home.  I really do.

         16                 MS. HIBBARD:  Right, yes.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Explain for

         18  the laymen, a little bit more about traumatic brain

         19  injury as it  --  we understand if someone gets hit

         20  with debris, shrapnel from a bomb or some type of

         21  devise, what type of injuries can result from

         22  penetration or breakage.

         23                 Explain a little bit more the

         24  shockwaves.  I would imagine that the shockwave is

         25  actually causing the brain to hit the skull.
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          2  Explain to us a little more how that occurs, and

          3  what the ramifications are.

          4                 MS. HIBBARD:  If we can envision a

          5  bowl of jello, okay?  If you take a bowl of jello

          6  out of the refrigerator in a nice little white bowl,

          7  and it's still chilly, and you leave it on the table

          8  for 20 minutes, that jello starts to be not so

          9  chilly any more.  You then take that bowl and shift

         10  it back and forth.  What happens to the jello?  It

         11  sloshes back and forth, and back and forth.

         12                 In essence, that is what's happening

         13  during the shockwaves.  The shockwaves are coming

         14  very rapidly to your brain.  Your brain is the

         15  consistency of jello.  Your skull is hard, but your

         16  brain is the consistency of jello.  When it gets

         17  that force, it immediately rebounds and then begins

         18  to vibrate back and forth, twisting as it goes.

         19  That is the problem with the traumatic brain injury.

         20                 The person is still standing, they

         21  will report feeling stunned or confused immediately

         22  after, and they might be able to pick up their

         23  weapons and go back stumbling a little bit, but do

         24  whatever it is they need to do.

         25                 The second time the same thing
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          2  happens, the brain does the exact same thing, except

          3  now the damage is cumulative. So rather than feeling

          4  just a little `dinged,' the person has a little more

          5  trouble getting oriented, getting grounded, a little

          6  more fuzzy for a longer period of time, and it

          7  continues on and on and on until the person is no

          8  longer in that situation.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  But I would

         10  imagine it would be similar to the injuries

         11  sustained for a professional boxer over a series of

         12  years that goes to the head.

         13                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's exactly right,

         14  that's right.

         15                 Or many of our motorists that have

         16  multiple rear end collisions where they are in a

         17  seatbelt but their head is going back and forth, and

         18  back and forth, and back and forth, and they're

         19  having the equivalent, and they're having minor

         20  concussions upon minor concussions.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Now, is it

         22  possible to just because I'd like a little more

         23  education on traumatic brain injury  --  is it

         24  possible for one incident that didn't occur with a

         25  penetration or breakage, is it possible for just one
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          2  incident of a very strong shockwave, a blast,

          3  causing sever permanent injury just from one

          4  instance?

          5                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes it is.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  It is.

          7                 MS. HIBBARD:  Much of that is the

          8  dynamics of how close to  --  what's the near- miss

          9  factor.  Were you standing just far enough away that

         10  you didn't get blown up by the IED, but you were so

         11  close to the impact that your brain took the

         12  majority of the shockwave.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.  I

         14  have a few more questions.

         15                 You spoke in your testimony, I'm just

         16  going to quote it for a moment, "It's argued that

         17  this approach needs to be taken again if our vets in

         18  New York City are to maximally recover from their

         19  war- related TBI's," and this is relation to a

         20  replication where there is some type of uniting or

         21  bringing together or fusion of private clinicians,

         22  clinics, hospitals--

         23                 MS. HIBBARD:  Exactly.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: --  "to

         25  provide the type of care that," according to your
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          2  expert testimony, "is not being provided by the VA."

          3                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's correct.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  So, you are

          5  arguing that there should be this type of private

          6  partnership established to provide these services

          7  for the veterans, particularly as it relates to TBI.

          8                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's correct.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Now, has a

         10  partnership like this ever existed before with the

         11  VA?

         12                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes it did.  I don't

         13  have the specific references for that, but the

         14  people that I might put you in touch with would be

         15  the Brain Injury Association, which is the national

         16  umbrella group that over--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I think

         18  we're going to be hearing from the New York State

         19  chapter today, so I'll be asking them.

         20                 MS. HIBBARD:  I don't see anybody in

         21  the room from New York state, that's what I was

         22  wondering.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Okay, yes

         24  there is.

         25                 MS. HIBBARD:  Okay, okay.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Now, the

          3  chart that we have here, this is the City Council's

          4  briefing paper with

          5  respect to all the military treatment facilities, we

          6  have Walter Reed, which obviously has gotten a lot

          7  of negative attention recently--

          8                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes, it has.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: -- for their

         10  wide range of deficiencies.

         11                 MS. HIBBARD:  Mostly in their out-

         12  patient treatment.  So even the Premier Centers are

         13  front- end focused. Where TBI is community lifetime

         14  focused.  It's a very different model.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  We also have

         16  here the Wilford Hall US Air Force Medical Center.

         17  We have Fort Sam in Texas.  The Naval Medical Center

         18  in San Diego, probably on Camp Pendleton, Va sites;

         19  Richmond, Virginia, Tampa, Florida, Minneapolis,

         20  Palo Alto, California and Charlottesville, Virginia.Doesn't

         21  seem to be anywhere near us.

         22                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's correct.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Nothing

         24  really close to the Tri- State area even.

         25                 MS. HIBBARD:  That's exactly right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  The

          3  Manhattan and Bronx VA's are not capable, according

          4  to your testimony, of providing the care necessary

          5  for TBI's.

          6                 MS. HIBBARD:  The Bronx has been

          7  designated as the Vision Level Two Polytrauma

          8  Center.  The funding is new, it's inadequate.  The

          9  staffing is inexperienced, and it takes years to

         10  establish a program.  We're talking about baby

         11  steps.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

         13                 MS. HIBBARD:  Where we need giant

         14  steps.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right, so

         16  tell me about your patient Mr. Woodruff.  Where did

         17  he get his care?

         18                 MS. HIBBARD:  He went to Bethesda.

         19  He had emergency treatment on the field, went to

         20  Germany for surgery.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Yes.

         22                 MS. HIBBARD:  Then once medically

         23  stable, came to Bethesda for his acute care, had a

         24  very brief in- patient stay, I think at Columbia

         25  University in the City, and then immediately began
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          2  intensive out- patient treatment.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Where at?

          4                 MS. HIBBARD:  Mount Sinai.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  At Mount

          6  Sinai.

          7                 MS. HIBBARD:  Typical of inter-

          8  disciplinary team, he had an inter- disciplinary

          9  team of therapists seeing him five days a week for

         10  many hours a day.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  For the

         12  benefit of my colleagues, and those who are watching

         13  this hearing, tell me specifically in his case  --

         14  I had the benefit of watching the Oprah Winfrey

         15  show.

         16                 MS. HIBBARD:  I didn't.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Which was

         18  quite extensive about how severe his injuries were.

         19  I think it's in many ways a miracle that he survived

         20  it.  He appears to be doing astonishingly well from

         21  what I saw.  He interviewed, he spoke.  I think he's

         22  a living miracle.

         23                 But walk me through that.  I know

         24  that in the program they showed that they had to cut

         25  a substantial part of his skull and remove it to
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          2  help reduce the swelling of the brain, which was

          3  coming outside of his head.

          4                 So, explain to me a little bit his

          5  injuries, what the likelihood of his survival was

          6  had he not received the good treatment, and then the

          7  follow up treatment afterwards.

          8                 MS. HIBBARD:  Bob would have been

          9  dead if there wasn't acute care treatment.  The

         10  amount of swelling of his brain would have resulted

         11  in instant death if they had not removed his skull.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  That was

         13  done in Germany?

         14                 MS. HIBBARD:  That was done

         15  immediately at the site.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Incredible,

         17  in Iraq.

         18                 MS. HIBBARD:  Like 20 minutes, they

         19  put him to a local hospital, military hospital, on

         20  site, and they did the emergency surgery there.

         21                 I would say that level of intense

         22  intervention is better than any of us could have

         23  ever hoped for in a car crash.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Because of

         25  the type of trauma experience.
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          2                 MS. HIBBARD:  The trauma experience

          3  is really exquisite, and is taking I think the whole

          4  of neurosurgery further long, which is often the

          5  case in these kinds of traumatic wars.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  So take us

          7  back 20 years ago, was this type of technology

          8  available 20 years ago for veterans?  Did we have

          9  the capacity?

         10                 MS. HIBBARD:  No, the technology 20

         11  years ago was called a casualty.  The person didn't

         12  survive.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Casualty,

         14  right.

         15                 MS. HIBBARD:  Mortality rates have

         16  decreased over time because of acute front- end

         17  care, emergency care.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.

         19                 MS. HIBBARD:  There's enough

         20  knowledge now of how to monitor pressure in the

         21  brain, and prevent pressure from increasing because

         22  that causes secondary death of brain cells.        The

         23  whole technology to keep people alive has improved.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right, it's

         25  quite incredible.
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          2                 MS. HIBBARD:  But now we're left with

          3  many people with much more severe injuries that need

          4  life time help.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right, which

          6  in essence your testimony is outlining that there's

          7  a lack of expertise, even funding, or capacity.

          8                 MS. HIBBARD:  Capacity is equally as

          9  important, and they do not have the wherewithal to

         10  be able to take a team of people and send them

         11  somewhere for intensive training.  They just, it's a

         12  goodwill gesture, but not enough meat to it to make

         13  a difference.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  So one of

         15  the solutions you are proposing, according to your

         16  testimony, is to establish this type of partnership,

         17  where there's a partnership where the VA partners up

         18  with some of the private providers to provide this

         19  long- term care to these victims who are suffering

         20  from these TBI's?

         21                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes, right.

         22                 I'd like to just point out that I

         23  also handed out, I have a colored version but you

         24  have a black and white version.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right.
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          2                 MS. HIBBARD:  This is a position

          3  paper from the Brain Injury Association, and if you

          4  look at page  --  let me see, there's a table, a

          5  figure rather, on page three  --  I think it really

          6  in a nutshell talks about what the system gaps are

          7  that we're not addressing with the VA, all right?

          8  This is the typical continuum of care.

          9                 At the front- end, the military are

         10  doing a great job of saving people.  But if you

         11  notice, the flow of the traditional care for TBI,

         12  most of the services are at the right side of the

         13  graph, and they revolve a whole bunch of different

         14  expertise in the community.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  And this is

         16  what's lacking from the VA services?

         17                 MS. HIBBARD:  This is totally what's

         18  lacking. It's still looked at as a front- end

         19  problem.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I just have

         21  to say that I very much appreciate your testimony

         22  today.  It really is enlightening.

         23                 I'm going to make a commitment to

         24  follow up with your office, and yourself, and to

         25  ensure that the testimony that we've heard here
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          2  today is sent to Washington, and to our other

          3  elected officials in Congress, and the U.S. Senate.

          4                 I think, obviously, a lot more has to

          5  be done, and I'll be meeting with several groups of

          6  veterans that I've been working with as Chair of

          7  this Committee--

          8                 MS. HIBBARD:  Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE: --  and put

         10  together some awareness.  I don't think that a lot

         11  of the elected officials really understand or even

         12  know really how the VA is failing our soldiers,

         13  airman, and marines and sailors in providing these

         14  services.

         15                 MS. HIBBARD:  Now, in many ways Bob

         16  Woodruff has been extremely instrumental in bringing

         17  the word traumatic brain injury to the forefront.

         18  His bravery to come out and talk about this has

         19  really opened many doors that have not been opened

         20  before.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I have to

         22  say that had it not been for his testimonial and his

         23  activism, post- injury, we probably wouldn't be

         24  having this hearing today.

         25                 MS. HIBBARD:  Absolutely.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  So.

          3                 MS. HIBBARD:  Well, that was Bob

          4  saying, "You go and do it, you know what the issues

          5  are."

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Right, but I

          7  have to tell you we are  --  I know I am personally

          8  very moved by this issue, and we have to do

          9  something.

         10                 I look forward to working very

         11  closely with you to do exactly that.

         12                 MS. HIBBARD:  Thank you, thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  So I want to

         14  say thank you for your testimony, and you will be

         15  hearing back from our office shortly.

         16                 MS. HIBBARD:  Okay, and I would love

         17  to send you a file if that is okay?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  We would

         19  absolutely like that.

         20                 MS. HIBBARD:   There are some minor

         21  edits that I would want to make in it, just some

         22  typos and stuff that I found.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Absolutely,

         24  thank you very much.

         25                 MS. HIBBARD:  Okay, thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  I'm going to

          3  call up one of our veterans that served in Iraq to

          4  provide some testimony, and then we're going to be

          5  hearing from the Brain Injury Association of New

          6  York State.

          7                 First we're going to hear from Rob

          8  Timmins, Rob.

          9                 MR. TIMMINS:  Good afternoon, thank

         10  you to the city council members for having me here

         11  today.

         12                 My name is Rob Timmins, and I'm a

         13  veteran of the war in Iraq.  I served a year there,

         14  and I'm also the field and outreach director for

         15  Iraq and Afghanistan Veterans of America, which is

         16  the nations first and largest organization for

         17  veterans of the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan.

         18                 IAVA's mission is to educate people

         19  about the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan, and to

         20  advocate on behalf of the newest generation of

         21  American heroes.

         22                 IAVA is a non-profit, non-partisan

         23  organization that seeks to ensure the enactment of

         24  policies that properly provide for our troops and

         25  veterans, keep our military strong, and guarantee
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          2  our national security.

          3                 Traumatic Brain Injury, or TBI, as

          4  you've heard, is the signature wound of the Iraq

          5  War.  For troops near a grenade attack or roadside

          6  bomb, the blast can cause the brain to hit the

          7  inside of the skull, which we've preciously heard,

          8  leading to vision problems, hearing or speech

          9  problems, dizziness and memory loss.

         10                 More than 11,800 troops have been

         11  seriously injured in an IED attack, and many

         12  thousands more have been near enough to suffer a

         13  concussion.  Injuries can accumulate if troops are

         14  exposed to multiple blasts during their deployment.

         15  In severe cases, TBI causes brain damage and

         16  requires a life time of care and rehabilitation.

         17                 As of October 31st of 2006, only

         18  1,652 soldiers and marines who served in Iraq and

         19  Afghanistan have been officially diagnosed with

         20  Traumatic Brain Injury.  But TBI is invisible, and

         21  often goes undiagnosed and untreated.  Based on

         22  existing data, veterans' advocates believe that

         23  between ten and 20 percent of Iraq and Afghanistan

         24  veterans, or 150,000 and 300,000 people, have some

         25  level of TBI.  Among wounded troops, the rate of TBI
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          2  rises to 33 percent.

          3                 In surveys at various Army and Marine

          4  bases, between ten and 20 percent of returning Iraq

          5  veterans screen positive for TBI.

          6                 At Fort Carson, for instance, 17.8

          7  percent of Iraq veterans screened positive for TBI,

          8  while at Fort Irwin, "almost 12 percent of them had

          9  suffered concussions resulting in mild to moderate

         10  TBI injuries."

         11                 A survey of the 1st Marine Division

         12  showed that "ten percent suffered from TBI ten

         13  months after returning from Iraq."  Of the Fort

         14  Carson troops with TBI, 13 percent were unfit to

         15  return to Iraq.

         16                 The Department of Veterans' Affairs

         17  will be instituting TBI evaluation at all VA clinics

         18  starting in spring of 2007.  The evaluation will

         19  include questions regarding events that may have

         20  caused a brain injury, in proximity to an IED blast,

         21  for example, as well as questions about other

         22  symptoms. Once a veteran has shown signs that they

         23  may have TBI, they will undergo a more complete

         24  screen, including tests of memory and perception.

         25  Though only a third of Iraq and Afghanistan veterans
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          2  go to the VA for care, this is still a major step

          3  towards understanding the scope of Iraq War- related

          4  TBI.

          5                 The effects of brain injuries are not

          6  always permanent, especially with early treatment.

          7  The Pentagon and Department of Veterans' Affairs run

          8  four major Polytrauma Rehabilitation Centers, as you

          9  heard, as well as 21 regional sites, which

         10  dramatically improve the quality- of- life for

         11  patients with brain traumas.  But even with

         12  treatment, the effects of TBI "linger in about 15

         13  percent of cases."

         14                 Washington has been slow to respond

         15  to the needs of troops with brain injuries.  In

         16  fact, the 2007 Defense Appropriations Bill contained

         17  just seven percent, half of what was allocated the

         18  year before, for the Defense and Veterans Brain

         19  Injury Center that researches and treats TBI.

         20                 My organization reacted immediately

         21  to draw attention to this shameful failure to

         22  support treatment for our troops, and we worked with

         23  Congress to make sure funding was restored.

         24                 In the months and years ahead, we

         25  will continue to advocate for comprehensive TBI
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          2  screening, and the best possible treatment.

          3                 What we recommend from Congress is

          4  $500 million to be allocated for research

          5  initiatives studying the hallmark injuries of the

          6  current wars, mental health disorders, especially

          7  brain and spinal injuries, and amputations.

          8                 Also, we call for a complete medical

          9  examination for all troops within 90 days of

         10  finishing a combat tour, including screening for

         11  undiagnosed blast injuries and TBI.

         12                 I just want to introduce you to one

         13  of the soldiers for a personal look at one of the

         14  soldiers that we're working with, and kind of, to

         15  spotlight how the Department of Defense is not aware

         16  of the extent of how we are not addressing this

         17  issue, and almost trying to cover it up with other

         18  ways.

         19                 I want to introduce you to one of our

         20  veterans members, Jon Town (phonetic).  One morning

         21  Jon Town woke up blood leaking form his ear.  The

         22  Army specialists mopped up the fluid with an old

         23  tee- shirt.  He was in the barracks again on the

         24  operations based in Ramadi.  It had been 19 hours

         25  since the rocket attack had knocked him unconscious,
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          2  and still his hearing had not returned.  The day

          3  before, a rocket stuck the building that he was

          4  standing next to, two feet above Jonathan Towns'

          5  head.  The impact punched a piano- sized hole in the

          6  concrete facade, sparked a huge fireball, and tossed

          7  the 25 year old specialist onto the floor where he

          8  laid blacked out amongst the rubble.  Eventually the

          9  rocket shrapnel that was removed from Jonathan

         10  Towns' neck and his ears stopped leaking, but his

         11  hearing never really recovered, and in many ways,

         12  neither has his life.

         13                 A soldier honored 12 times during his

         14  seven years in uniform, Town spent the last two on a

         15  painful downward arc through disability and

         16  depression, one that reached in September when he

         17  was booted from the military, and told he was never

         18  to receive disability pay, or medical treatment from

         19  the Department of Veterans' Affairs.

         20                 Twenty- two months since the rocket

         21  had hit, still the headaches would not go away.

         22  Doctors at Fort Carson, Colorado, told him that

         23  whatever he wanted to hear he says, but his left ear

         24  was still essentially useless.  The psychologist at

         25  Fort Carson had told him not to worry, that he could
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          2  receive and honorable discharge under Army

          3  regulation 600- 35- 200, or Chapter 5- 13, which you

          4  might have heard about from MPR stories from Daniel

          5  Swordling (phonetic).  Basically, it's a separation

          6  because of a pre- existing personality disorder.

          7                 The problem with this 5- 13

          8  personality disorder, is that because it's

          9  considered a pre- existing condition, and thus by

         10  agreeing to label his wounds a personality disorder,

         11  Town was actually signing on to the idea that he had

         12  been suffering from hearing loss, headaches, and

         13  psychiatric problems before joining the military.

         14  That puts Town's problems outside the realms of VA

         15  assistance.  The organization is only required to

         16  treat wounds sustained during service.  With a 5- 13

         17  dismissal, soldiers can't obtain disability pay

         18  either.  To receive those benefits, a soldier must

         19  be evaluated by a medical board, who must confirm

         20  that he is wounded, and that his wounds stem from

         21  combat.  The process takes several months, in

         22  contrast to a 5- 13 discharge which can be wrapped

         23  up in a few days.

         24                 So, the issue is that the VA and the

         25  DOD get to save a lot of money, one by discharging
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          2  veterans like Jonathan Town who has traumatic brain

          3  injury that was left unscreened and undiagnosed, and

          4  the Army get to discharge a soldier so that they are

          5  not on their books anymore, and discharge them

          6  without disability pay so their coffers don't get

          7  affected, and the VA doesn't have to treat him

          8  because these wounds are  --  this disorder was pre-

          9  existing.

         10                 So we as a country have a moral

         11  obligation to ensure that the Department of Defense

         12  and the Department of Veterans' Affairs screen and

         13  treat these soldiers and marines with TBI, and make

         14  sure that their after- care is fully funded, and

         15  make sure that research is fully funded.

         16                 Thank you, and have a good day.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 The case of Jon Town, where does Jon

         20  Town live?

         21                 MR. TIMMINS:  He lives in Findlay,

         22  Ohio.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  In Ohio,

         24  great.

         25                 We want to thank you for your
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          2  testimony.

          3                 MR. TIMMINS:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Does your

          5  organization support the Heroes at Home Act?

          6                 MR. TIMMINS:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Okay, thank

          8  you very much.

          9                 MR. TIMMINS:  Thanks you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  We're going

         11  to be calling up Jody Ference from the Brain Injury

         12  Association of New York State, and I'm also going to

         13  invite up the Center for Independence, Susan Dooha

         14  and Stuart Kaufer, but we'll first hear from Ms.

         15  Ference and then the other individuals representing

         16  the other organization.

         17                 Give us your name, the organization

         18  that you're representing, and go right ahead.

         19                 MS. FERENCE:  I am Jody Ference, and

         20  I'm representing the Brain Injury Association of New

         21  York State.

         22                 The Brain Injury Association applauds

         23  the leadership of the New York City Council

         24  Committee on Veterans, Council Chair Hiram

         25  Monserrate, Council Members Tony Avella, Lewis
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          2  Fidler, Letitia James and Michael C. Nelson.

          3                 We appreciate the opportunity to

          4  participate in this important discussion, and to

          5  share information about brain injury as it relates

          6  to the veteran population.

          7                 I'm just going to tell you a little

          8  bit about the Brain Injury Association.  So of what

          9  I'm going to address in my remarks has already been

         10  stated so forgive me for repetition.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Okay.

         12                 MS. FERENCE:  The Brain Injury

         13  Association of New York State is the statewide non-

         14  profit membership organization that advocates on

         15  behalf of individuals with brain injury and their

         16  families, and promotes prevention.

         17                 Established in 1982, the Brain Injury

         18  Association of New York State works tirelessly to

         19  help meet the needs of individuals with brain injury

         20  and their families, and to educate the public and

         21  policy makers about brain injury and prevention.

         22  BIANYS has several major programs including a Brain

         23  Injury, Information and Resources Clearinghouse, a

         24  toll free family helpline, a website, publications,

         25  local chapters and support groups, mentoring, and
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          2  educational programs.

          3                 The Family Advocacy, Counseling, and

          4  Training Services Program, which we call FACTS, is

          5  an extensive family support program that serves

          6  individuals with a brain injury sustained before age

          7  22, and their families.  FACTS coordinators are

          8  specialized in the field of brain injury and are

          9  located throughout New York state.

         10                 Coordinators link individuals and

         11  their families with information, resources,

         12  advocacy, and emotional support. Military personnel

         13  who have sustained brain injury prior to age 22 are

         14  also eligible for this program.

         15                 To help understand the scope of brain

         16  injury, of the 1.6 million persons each year who

         17  sustain a traumatic brain injury in the United

         18  States, 51,000 die, 290,000 are hospitalized, and

         19  1.2 million seek emergency treatment and are

         20  released from the emergency department.

         21                 However, the number of people with

         22  TBI who are not seen in an emergency department or

         23  who don't receive any care is not known.

         24                 As we've heard already many times,

         25  and in the media, traumatic brain injury has been
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          2  called the "signature injury, the signature wounds"

          3  of the wars in Iraq and Afghanistan, the Defense and

          4  Veterans Brain Injury Center stated that in previous

          5  wars, 20 percent of all military casualties

          6  sustained brain injury.  However, the rate of brain

          7  injuries from blasts in soldiers returning from Iraq

          8  and Afghanistan appears at this point to be between

          9  30 percent to 50 percent.

         10                 It is critical that we join together

         11  to recognize the potential unmet needs of military

         12  veterans who knowingly or unknowingly have sustained

         13  a traumatic brain injury.  Traumatic brain injury

         14  may result in life long disability.  Lack of

         15  effective screening in the field or post- deployment

         16  means that combat veterans with a blast- related

         17  brain injury may not be identified.  We must

         18  remember that even mild brain injuries have long

         19  lasting and life altering affects.

         20                 According to a 2001 study by Silver,

         21  Kramer, Greenwald, et al., published in Brain

         22  Injury, Volume 15, people who experience a TBI

         23  report poorer physical and emotional health as

         24  compared to those with other disabilities and those

         25  without disabilities.  They also reported that
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          2  individuals with brain injury who live with residual

          3  disability often fail when they attempt to return to

          4  active military duty, productive work, previous

          5  social roles, familial responsibilities and pre-

          6  injury lifestyles.

          7                 In addition, they found that people

          8  with TBI are 66 percent more likely to receive

          9  welfare or disability payments and are four times

         10  more likely to attempt suicide than people without

         11  disabilities.  Depression, substance abuse and

         12  family dysfunction are just a few of the personal

         13  consequences of inadequate access to the TBI

         14  continuum of care.  The transfer of cost to society

         15  through homelessness, psychiatric placements and

         16  correctional sentences affects both military and

         17  civilian populations.

         18                 The Centers for Disease Control and

         19  Prevention estimates that at least 5.3 million

         20  Americans currently have a long- term or life long

         21  need for help to perform activities of daily living

         22  as a result of a TBI.

         23                 According to one study, about 40

         24  percent of those hospitalized with a TBI had at

         25  least one unmet need for services one year after
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          2  their injury.  The most frequent unmet needs were:

          3  Improving memory and problem solving, managing

          4  stress and emotional upsets, controlling one's

          5  temper, and improving one's job skills.

          6                 The question of why TBI is such a

          7   "hot" issue, I guess I can really skip that.  We've

          8  already heard how the face of warfare has really

          9  changed since this war began, and soldiers are

         10  surviving terrible injuries that in previous wars

         11  would have meant certain death.

         12                 According to Walter Reed Army Medical

         13  Center, nearly 30 percent of all combat- related

         14  injuries seen from 2003 to 2005 included a brain

         15  injury.  We've already heard that blasts connected

         16  with IED's can cause concussive shock blasts which

         17  damage the brain, even without a sustained loss of

         18  consciousness and often with no obvious physical

         19  trace of injury.  It is possible, indeed likely, for

         20  these injuries to go undetected for months and even

         21  years as soldiers may not exhibit symptoms of brain

         22  injury immediately following exposure to a blast.

         23                 Ancedotally, we have also learned

         24  that there is a strong likelihood for returning

         25  veterans to forgo prompt medical evaluations for
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          2  symptoms related to traumatic brain injury, in order

          3  to be able to go home because they have been

          4  deployed for so long, and they really want to get

          5  back home to their families.

          6                 TBI is the result of a moderate or

          7  severe force to the head which causes damage to

          8  portions of the brain and impaired functioning.

          9  Open head injuries that result from a

         10  penetration injury or other accident or explosion,

         11  are easier to diagnose because of the visual cues of

         12  obvious physical trauma, but which raise, of course,

         13  a multitude of other issues related to possible life

         14  long treatment and disability.

         15                 Many of those wounded in Iraq and

         16  Afghanistan have sustained brain injuries that have

         17  caused permanent impairment in thinking,

         18  remembering, behavior, and the ability to work.

         19                 Unfortunately, these more obvious

         20  injuries are just the prelude to an even larger

         21  tragedy that is unfolding.              Many

         22  soldiers have been exposed to blasts, crashes and

         23  injuries in the field resulting in concussion and

         24  short- term loss of consciousness, categorized as

         25  mild to moderate TBI, that go largely untreated and
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          2  uncounted.

          3                 Closed head TBI results from exposure

          4  to blast trauma associated with the roadside bombs

          5  that explode with regularity in the streets of Iraq.

          6

          7                 Another comparison is shaken baby

          8  syndrome, the brain as we heard earlier, the brain

          9  is twisted or pressed up against the bony

         10  protrusions inside the skull causing damage to some

         11  parts of the brain associated with memory,

         12  concentration and executive functioning.

         13                 Since there's no routine screening

         14  for TBI in the field of battle, we do not know how

         15  many soldiers have been affected.

         16                 As we mentioned previously, the

         17  effects of TBI may not be readily apparent.  As the

         18  soldier returns to his or her routine in military

         19  life, or back at home, the effects of a TBI may

         20  emerge.  Persons affected may develop difficulties

         21  handling tasks and responsibilities that were

         22  formerly second nature.  The ability to return to

         23  pre- injury levels of mental ability, speech,

         24  coordination and thought processes are not

         25  guaranteed.  The ramifications are enormous.
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          2                 When an individual sustains a TBI, it

          3  is not uncommon for him or her to experience the

          4  onset of mental health problems.  Brain injuries may

          5  cause a change in cognition and physical ability as

          6  well as emotional functioning.  Psychosocial

          7  difficulties include changes is self-identity,

          8  family role changes, loss of intimacy, decrease in

          9  self- esteem, and job loss. Individuals also may be

         10  forced to cope with chronic pain. Subsequently,

         11  feelings of depression, anxiety and aggression

         12  commonly emerge.  Brain injury can affect how a

         13  person feels, thinks, acts, and relates to others.

         14                      Post- traumatic Stress Disorder

         15  may complicate the recovery of persons with TBI

         16  because the TBI often goes undetected.  PTSD

         17  symptoms including vigilance, aggression,

         18  depression, substance abuse and suicidal ideation

         19  overlap with TBI.

         20                 Impairments in cognition common to

         21  TBI and PTSD include short-term memory loss,

         22  problems with attention and concentration.  The

         23  similarity of symptomatology between PTSD and TBI

         24  makes it extremely important to understand the

         25  differences between two conditions.
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          2                 While brain imaging is an emerging

          3  diagnostic tool for TBI, there is currently no

          4  comparable tool for diagnosing PTSD according to Dr.

          5  Gerald Cross, Acting Principal Deputy Undersecretary

          6  for Health, in a statement before the Subcommittee

          7  on Health, House Committee on Veterans' Affairs.

          8                 It is critical that screening for and

          9  exposure to blast and TBI takes place as early as

         10  possible following blast exposure, and that service

         11  providers who work in the field of PTSD are trained

         12  to recognize the signs of TBI.

         13                 George Basher, the director of the

         14  New York State Division of Veteran's Affairs, in a

         15  presentation to the New York State Traumatic Brain

         16  Injury Services Coordinating Counsel meeting about a

         17  month ago, May 16th, there are between 100 and 400

         18  veterans of Operation Enduring Freedom and Operation

         19  Iraqi Freedom in New York that have been diagnosed

         20  with a TBI.  We know that this is just the tip of

         21  the iceberg; so many TBI's go unidentified.

         22                 The extent of the problem hopefully

         23  will become clearer as the use of a mandated post-

         24  deployment screening tool to evaluate returning

         25  soldiers for exposure to blast injuries is now in
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          2  effect at VA hospitals and health- related

          3  facilities.              Once identified, the

          4  soldier who has been exposed to TBI must have access

          5  to appropriate supports and services, especially in

          6  the community.  Director Basher did remark on the

          7  importance of seeking out civilian providers in

          8  areas of the state less accessible to VA services.

          9  We were particularly focusing on Upstate New York.

         10  Access to care should not be an issue for veterans

         11  and their families.

         12                 The Brain Injury Association of New

         13  York State, through its participation in a grant

         14  funded by the Health Resources and Services

         15  Administration seeks to support and extend the range

         16  of coordinated care options for returning combat

         17  personnel who have a traumatic brain injury, their

         18  families and caregivers.  This will be accomplished

         19  through the provision of training programs designed

         20  to improve awareness, provide information, and offer

         21  direct skills and support for service providers who

         22  work with persons with TBI.  We have developed

         23  posters, brochures and magnets specific to the

         24  military milieu. We are working with the Defense and

         25  Veterans Brain Injury Center, the New York State
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          2  Department of Health, the Center for Independence of

          3  the Disabled in New York, the New York State

          4  Division of Military and Naval Affairs, the New York

          5  State Division of Veterans Affairs, and the VA

          6  Polytrauma Sites within the Vision Two and Three

          7  Networks.  We have also connected with military

          8  personnel at Fort Drum, Fort Dix and Fort Hamilton.

          9                 In addition, the Association is

         10  developing a statewide network of information and

         11  resources to assist the returning military personnel

         12  of New York in obtaining the services that they

         13  need.

         14                 We will be working with the Division

         15  of Veterans' Affairs and other statewide

         16  organizations that deal directly or indirectly with

         17  returning military personnel.  We welcome the

         18  participation of your Committee in our efforts.

         19                 We thank you for the opportunity to

         20  highlight the importance of recognizing the needs of

         21  returning military personnel with regard to

         22  traumatic brain injury, and we look forward to

         23  working with you in the future.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         25  very much for your testimony.  We will be following
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          2  up with you within the next few weeks as to how we

          3  move forward.

          4                 I want to give the opportunity to Ms.

          5  Susan Dooha from the Center for Independence of the

          6  Disabled of New York, to provide her testimony

          7  today.

          8                 MS. DOOHA:  Good morning Council

          9  Member Monserrate, and colleagues.

         10                 My name is Susan Dooha.  I am the

         11  Executive Director of the Center for Independence of

         12  the Disabled in New York.  We have offices in

         13  Manhattan and Queens, and serve people throughout

         14  New York City.  We have been in existence for nearly

         15  30 years on the frontlines of helping people with

         16  disabilities of all kinds to be fully integrated

         17  into the community.  We have been instrumental in

         18  the elimination of barriers to successful community

         19  living, vocational rehabilitation, employment,

         20  education, housing and health care.

         21                 We recently have undertaken work with

         22  the New York State Department of Health.  In 2004,

         23  we became the Traumatic Brain Injury Regional

         24  Resource Development Center.

         25                 Mary Hibbard showed you a continuum
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          2  of TBI services, and she showed you that most of the

          3  services are on the back- end.  We are the back-

          4  end.  We are the services for people who have been

          5  through the acute system, or who have been outside

          6  of the acute system despite needing acute services,

          7  and intensive rehabilitation.  We are the system

          8  that offers people who would otherwise be forced to

          9  be institutionalized, an opportunity to live

         10  successfully in the community united with their

         11  families, engaged in volunteer activities, pursuing

         12  rehabilitation and transitioned back into society.

         13                 We are one of ten offices around the

         14  state doing similar activity with about 2,000

         15  individuals who receive these services.

         16                 I myself am a person with a traumatic

         17  brain injury, and I have a very profound commitment

         18  to ensuring people like me receive the services that

         19  are necessary in order to be able to function

         20  effectively in the community, and to be fully

         21  engaged, fully integrated, and have new normal

         22  lives.

         23                 We, in addition to providing

         24  community integration counseling, case management,

         25  independent living skills, training, behavioral
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          2  interventions, access to mental health and drug and

          3  alcohol treatment, have access to a housing subsidy

          4  for people with traumatic brain injury who would

          5  otherwise be institutionalized.  This enables many

          6  people to live successfully in the community.  We've

          7  repatriated through this program, more than 500 New

          8  Yorkers from out- of- state nursing homes, and saved

          9  the state and localities more than $20 million in

         10  the past year alone, as a consequence of fostering a

         11  successful community living environment for people,

         12  instead of having people warehoused because of their

         13  brain injuries in institutions.

         14                 We believe that for the reasons that

         15  have previously been stated, the system of supports

         16  for people with traumatic brain injury are going to

         17  be facing new challenges as a consequence of the

         18  fronts in Afghanistan and Iraq.

         19                 We don't need to elaborate on what

         20  you've already heard.  You've gotten a terrific

         21  explanation of the acute care infrastructure.

         22  You've gotten a terrific explanation of the wound of

         23  traumatic brain injury, and its consequences for

         24  individuals and families.

         25                 But we would like to share with you
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          2  some additional concerns, and amplify some of those

          3  that have already been raised.

          4                 We're very deeply concerned about

          5  people who are not screened in the field, or who

          6  were inadequately screened, who are returning to

          7  communities with mental health problems like

          8  depression or who can currently have post traumatic

          9  stress disorder, who are perhaps dishonorably

         10  discharged or discharged with a status that does not

         11  allow them access to veterans benefits including

         12  treatment.

         13                 We are very concerned about people

         14  who are going to emerge only when they encounter the

         15  mental health system, the drug and alcohol treatment

         16  system or the jail system.  Because of the kinds of

         17  behaviors that can be associated with traumatic

         18  brain injury, we are very confident that we are also

         19  going to be seeing people in the homeless system.

         20                 We know that often families not

         21  knowing about traumatic brain injury, and not having

         22  support for coping, can break under the stress of a

         23  severe traumatic brain injury, a moderate traumatic

         24  brain injury or even a mild traumatic brain injury.

         25  The person who has returned to them from war is not
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          2  the same person, and the family can have a great

          3  deal of difficulty with the behaviors associated

          4  with this; volatile anger, sudden outbursts,

          5  aggressiveness.

          6                 We are very concerned that the

          7  providers that are going to be seeing people are not

          8  well schooled in traumatic brain injury.  They do

          9  not see the volume of people with traumatic brain

         10  injury.  They are not trained.  They do not know

         11  what they are seeing.  They do not know, therefore,

         12  how other interventions to serve this population,

         13  such as mental health services or drug and alcohol

         14  treatment may need to be modified in order to be

         15  effective and appropriate for people with brain

         16  injuries.

         17                 We are very concerned that the

         18  existing public health and social service delivery

         19  systems don't, at present, have a plan to integrate

         20  people who are coming out of the wars, and

         21  attempting to re- integrate into the community.

         22  This is a major public health issue, and yet

         23  thusfar, the New York City Department of Health and

         24  Mental Hygiene has not been in touch with the

         25  community- based infrastructure to address the
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          2  impact on the infrastructure now of mental health

          3  services in the community for example.

          4                 At the level of our program, helping

          5  people with re- integration, we serve people who

          6  fall into the safety net. They fall into the

          7  Medicaid program and become eligible for our

          8  services and our program, which they may need on a

          9  life long basis.  However, our infrastructure is not

         10  adequate to absorb all of the people who are

         11  returning without additional providers being brought

         12  into the system, and additional resources being

         13  brought into the system.

         14                 So, we urgently are seeking

         15  partnership from the leaders in our community to

         16  bring together all of the affected parties, and to

         17  try to create an emergency summit in effect on the

         18  issues of re- integrating veterans into our

         19  communities, and the life long service implications

         20  for our systems.

         21                 Thank you so much for listening.  We

         22  are eager to hear your questions.  I have brought

         23  with me Stuart Kaufer who is the head of our

         24  Traumatic Brain Injury Regional Resource Development

         25  Center also to answer your questions.

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON VETERANS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you.

          3                 You were here, you were both present

          4  for the prior testimony that we heard from the

          5  doctor with respect to the lack of services that the

          6  VA currently provides for returning vets who are

          7  suffering from TBI.

          8                 Do you concur with her overall

          9  assessment?

         10                 Both of you can respond.

         11                 MS. DOOHA:  Yes, we absolutely

         12  concur, and my colleague Stuart Kaufer would like to

         13  talk about a veteran who has a traumatic brain

         14  injury that we have begun to become familiar with.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Then I would

         16  like to hear a response from the other organization.

         17                 MS. DOOHA:  Thank you.

         18                 MS. FERENCE:  We are really trying to

         19  reach out to the various VA facilities around the

         20  state, and try to find out what they are seeing, and

         21  what their plans are for dealing with  --  the

         22  numbers thankfully are not yet large, but I guess

         23  there's a looming feeling that things are going to

         24  rapidly change.  We've reached out to the different

         25  VA hospitals around the state, and we're really in
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          2  the process of just trying to see what they are

          3  doing and how they are addressing the little --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Sure.

          5                 MS. DOOHA:  Well, I just wanted to

          6  say that one of the things that we're going to begin

          7  doing and that we've been trying to start doing in

          8  the City is outreach to try to identify veterans

          9  coming into the system who can talk about what their

         10  experiences have been with treatment thus far, and

         11  what their ongoing needs are so that we can bring

         12  that evidence to policymakers to begin to address

         13  gaps, and to begin to address where the stresses on

         14  the infrastructure are going to be specifically, and

         15  make specific resource recommendations.

         16                 We have not found it very easy to

         17  interact thus far with the VA, and to gain their

         18  cooperation.  We don't find that they particularly

         19  yet recognize what we see or the implications of

         20  what we see, and that's in part, why I wanted Stuart

         21  to talk about our experience with a veteran who has

         22  a traumatic brain injury, who cannot be fully served

         23  within the VA system.

         24                 MR. KAUFER:  This is a veteran who is

         25  in the Bronx VA.  I think you heard a very accurate
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          2  portrayal of what the Bronx VA is like from Doctor

          3  Hibbard.

          4                 This is a woman who will not be able

          5  to live on her own in the community, and will need

          6  the services of our Traumatic Brain Injury Medicaid

          7  Waiver Program.  She will qualify for Medicaid, and

          8  will be able to get it, but the whole component and

          9  what both Ms. Dooha and Dr. Hibbard most important

         10  point is, is that caring for people with brain

         11  injury is a chronic issue, and most of it comes

         12  after the acute phase.

         13                 The VA has absolutely no home and

         14  community- based support services the way the

         15  private sector does.  So our Waiver Program is a

         16  home and community- based services program, so that

         17  this particular veteran, this woman, will be able to

         18  live in the community with the supports that we

         19  provide her under her Medicaid benefit.  She may be

         20  able to get her medications and/or her acute care

         21  through the VA, but the home and community support

         22  component will be Medicaid and one vet means 40

         23  vets, and 40 vets means 140 vets.  We don't know

         24  what the burden is going to be to the Medicaid

         25  system yet.
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          2                 The other point that I just want to

          3  emphasize that Ms. Dooha brought out is the lack of

          4  treatment facilities that can cope with people with

          5  substance abuse and mental health issues, who also

          6  have brain injury.

          7                 There's one facility in Rockland

          8  County that has eight beds dedicated to people with

          9  TBI, but it's men only, that's it.

         10                 I had the experience of trying to

         11  send a person with a brain injury in our program to

         12  a rehab center here in the Bronx, and he is in a

         13  wheelchair.  He got there and the facility was on

         14  the second floor, and there was no elevator.  So, he

         15  couldn't even access, literally access, the

         16  facility.

         17                 So, there are multiple problems that

         18  the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene really

         19  needs to examine related to the influx of this

         20  population.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you

         22  very much.

         23                 I'd like to thank the three of you

         24  for your testimony and look forward to working with

         25  you on the other endeavors that we will be working
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          2  on with respect to TBI's, and what the Veterans

          3  Administration is providing, really not providing,

          4  for our returning vets.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 MS. DOOHA:  We can't thank you enough

          7  for calling attention to these vital issues.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MONSERRATE:  Thank you

          9  very much.

         10                 That will conclude today's hearing of

         11  the Veterans Committee, and I thank all of the

         12  participants.

         13                 Thank you very much.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 2:15 p.m.)

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            65

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 29th day of June 2007.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          EMILY GRAVES

                                                            66

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              EMILY GRAVES

         23

         24

         25

